Modulation of programmed cell death pathways by the hepatitis C virus

Jude Juventus Aweya^{1,2} and Yee-Joo Tan^{1,2,*}

¹Department of Microbiology, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Contribution of structural proteins to apoptosis regulation
 - 2.1. Core
 - 2.1.1. Effects of core on extrinsic apoptotic pathways
 - 2.1.2. Effects of core on intrinsic apoptotic pathways
 - 2.1.3. Effects of core on other cellular pathways that contribute to apoptosis regulation
 - 2.1.4. Effects of alternate reading frame proteins on apoptosis
 - 2.2. E1 and E2
- 3. Contribution of non-structural proteins to apoptosis regulation
 - 3.1. p7

 - 3.2. NS2 3.3. NS3
 - 3.4. NS4A
 - 3.5. NS5A
 - 3.6. NS5B
- 4. Apoptosis during infection by recombinant HCVcc
- 5. Involvement of other cell death pathways
- 6. Future studies
- 7. Acknowledgements
- 8. References

²Collaborative Anti-Viral Research Group, Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology, Singapore.

1. INTRODUCTION

Hepatitis C virus (HCV), a positive-stranded RNA virus of the family *Flaviviridae*, is one of the major causes of liver diseases like cirrhosis, steatosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma. It currently infects an estimated 3% of people worldwide and poses an important medical problem in both developed and developing countries. The virus exhibits a very high degree of genetic diversity that is classified by phylogenetic analysis into six genotypes, each of which contains numerous subtypes (1). The current therapy with pegylated interferon plus ribavirin is not optimal because a significant proportion of patients failed to achieve a sustained virological response (see recent reviews (2-4). The failure rate is almost 50 % for patients with genotype 1 HCV and approximately 20% for those with genotype 2 or 3 HCV. In addition, many patients can not complete the treatment due to the substantial side effects.

The HCV genome encodes a unique open reading frame that is translated into a precursor polyprotein of about 3000 residues. The polyprotein is cleaved co- and post-translationally by viral and cellular proteases to yield at least three structural (core, E1 and E2) and seven non-structural (p7, NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A and NS5B) viral proteins (Figure 1). These proteins have important roles at different steps of the virus life cycle and are involved in viral-viral as well as viral-host interactions (see a recent review (5)).

Many of these molecular aspects of HCV replication have been studied using the replicon systems where the viral RNA self-amplifies in human hepatoma cells (see the recent review (6)). More recently, an infectious clone of HCV has recently been developed to produce HCV robustly in cell culture (known as the HCVcc system (7)). This is based on the JFH-1 strain, which is a genotype 2a strain from a Japanese patient with fulminant hepatitis. This strain of HCV has been shown to produce moderate titers of infectious virus in cell culture systems without adaptation. The availability of the HCVcc system has allowed detailed investigation into different steps in the virus life cycle including entry, replication, assembly and release.

In the fight for survival between virus and host, cell death regulation is an important determinant and many viruses encode for proteins that can interfere with the cellular cell-death signaling, skewing it to their advantage (8-10). The most well-studied programmed cell death pathway is apoptosis. Induction of apoptosis in infected cells can contribute directly to the viral pathogenesis and/or dissemination, while inhibition of apoptosis can prevent premature death of the infected cells, allowing the virus to replicate to a high titer or allowing the establishment of a persistent infection. In order to modulate apoptosis, viral proteins can interact with various host proteins that regulate the extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways. The extrinsic pathway is also known as the receptor pathway and is activated through binding of ligands to cell membrane receptors, such as Fas, tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and tumor-necrosis-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) receptors (11). On the other hand, the intrinsic pathway is dependent on mitochondrial resident proteins which control the release of a number of factors, like cytochrome c, from the mitochondrial intermembrane space (12). These factors then promote and amplify the apoptotic cascade from the formation and activation of the apoptosomes to the final destruction of the cell.

Although HCV is a non-lytic virus, it is known to modulate apoptosis in the host cell through various mechanisms. Indeed, both proapoptotic and prosurvival properties have been attributed to different HCV proteins, most commonly, through studies using ectopic expression of individual proteins in cell culture systems. Studies using the replicon and HCVcc system have also yield important insights into the modulation of programmed cell death by HCV replication. In this review, we will summarize current knowledge on the modulation of apoptosis and other programmed cell death pathways by the HCV in these cell culture systems.

2. CONTRIBUTION OF STRUCTURAL PROTEINS TO APOPTOSIS REGULATION

2.1. Core

The core protein is encoded by the N-terminal portion of the HCV precursor polyprotein and cleaved from the polyprotein by cellular signal peptidase to give the immature form of the core protein (residues 1 to 191). This then is further cleaved by membrane-associated signal peptide peptidase to give the mature core protein, whose C terminus is not precisely known but lies between residues 170 and 179 (see reviews (13-15)). Besides its role in the encapsidation of viral RNA, core has been found to interfere with many cellular pathways, including cell signaling, transcriptional activation, lipid metabolism, carcinogenesis, and apoptosis (see reviews (13-15)).

Depending on the death stimuli and types of cells used, core has been reported to inhibit as well as promote apoptosis. As both the immature and mature forms of core have been used in these studies, some differences in the activity of core observed may also be related to the form of core expressed. A summary of the different apoptotic pathways that are affected by core is provided below. Many of these studies were performed by ectopic expression of core alone and should be re-examined in the context of productive HCV replication where the other HCV proteins are also expressed. In particular, the HCVcc system can be used to determine if the level of core in the infected cells is sufficient to modulate the specific apoptotic pathways. Overall, it appears that multiple domains present in the core protein contribute to the modulation of apoptosis via diverse pathways. Therefore, the net apoptotic effect of the core protein may be dependent on the relative strength of its prosurvival and proapoptotic properties. However, the relative contribution of these various factors to apoptosis induction during HCV infection remains to be determined.

2.1.1. Effects of core on extrinsic apoptotic pathways

Core has been shown to interact directly with various components of the extrinsic apoptotic pathways, resulting in sensitization to Fas- and TNF- mediated apoptosis. Core was found to act as a positive regulator of Fas-mediated apoptosis in several cell lines (16-18). Interestingly, the C-terminal domain (residues 153 to 192) facilitates Fas oligomerization and is required for apoptosis induction in Jurkat cells in a Fas ligand-independent manner (18). Core has also been shown to bind the death domain (DD) of TNF receptor-1 as well as one of its signaling molecules Fas-associated death domain protein (FADD) (19, 20). Consequently, the core-expressing cells are sensitized to TNF-mediated apoptosis. As for TRAIL (also called Apo2L), which is a novel TNF superfamily member with strong homology to Fas ligand, there is one study that showed that core enhances TRAIL-mediated apoptosis via a mitochondrial-dependent signaling pathway (21).

On the other hand, core seems to inhibit Fas- or TNF- mediated apoptosis via several indirect pathways. These include the activation of nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) and the upregulation of inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase (22, 23). Core has also been shown to inhibit caspase-8 activation by sustaining the expression of cellular FLICE (FADD-like interleukin-1 β -converting enzyme)-like inhibitory protein (c-FLIP) (24).

2.1.2. Effects of core on intrinsic apoptotic pathways

Core is localized to various cellular compartments including the surface of lipid droplets, nucleus, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and mitochondria (see recent review (25)). As mitochondria are key sites for the regulation of apoptosis induced by intrinsic stimuli, it is not surprising that core has a direct functional effect on mitochondria. In transgenic mice and various cell lines, the expression of core causes an increase in mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and lead to apoptosis induction (26-32). The precise mode of action that leads to increased ROS production is not clearly defined but the N-terminal domain (residues 1 to 75) of core has been shown to interact with Hsp60, a stress response molecular chaperon that is primarily compartmentalized in mitochondria matrix (32). The interaction between core and Hsp60 was found to be important for the increased ROS production and the sensitization of the cells to apoptosis while the overexpression of Hsp60 rescued the core-expressing cells from apoptosis (32). It was also reported that core increases the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake and causes oxidation of the glutathione pool (26). Subsequently, there is a reduction in the activity of the electron transport complex I and an increase in ROS production (26). Another study showed that core stimulates the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter activity, resulting in increased mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake in response to ER Ca²⁺ release (27). Interestingly, core also triggers apoptosis by inducing ER stress and causing ER Ca²⁺ depletion (33). Subsequently, mitochondrial dysfunction occurs due to the changes in Ca²⁺ homeostasis. Thus, core-induced apoptosis may be due to a combination of actions at both the ER and mitochondria.

The family of Bcl-2 proteins plays important roles in regulating the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway (34, 35). There are at least 12 different members in the Bcl-2 family and they may be classified broadly into three classes: prosurvival members containing multiple Bcl-2 homology (BH) domains, proapoptotic members containing multiple BH domains, and proapoptotic members containing the BH3 domain only. Members of the Bcl-2 family are also involved in viral infections as numerous viruses have been shown to encode homologs of prosurvival Bcl-2 proteins, and these viral proteins act to inhibit apoptosis in infected cells and prevent the premature death of these cells (see reviews (36, 37)). Recently, a Bcl-2 homology domain 3 (BH3) in the core protein of the HCV-S1 strain (genotype 1b) was identified and shown to be essential for its proapoptotic property (38). Core appears to be a bona fide BH3-only protein having properties similar to those of Noxa, a BH3-only member of the Bcl-2 family that binds preferentially to Mcl-1, a prosurvival member of the Bcl-2 family. Interestingly, the genotype 1b core protein is more effective than the genotype 2a core protein (of the JFH-1 strain) in inducing apoptosis due to a single-amino-acid difference.

However, two independent studies reported that core can exert prosurvival effects at the mitochondria (29, 39). Using transiently transfected and magnetically collected core-producing HepG2 and Huh7 with core expression under control of the Tet-Off promoter, these studies reported that the mRNA and protein levels of the pro-survival Bcl- X_L were increased by core. Subsequently, these cells are more resistant to apoptosis induced by deoxycholic acid, TNF-alpha (with actinomycin D) or Fas stimulation.

2.1.3. Effects of core on other cellular pathways that contribute to apoptosis regulation

The effects of core on several cellular pathways also lead to the induction of apoptosis indirectly. For example, core interacts with 14-3-3\varepsilon, resulting in the release of Bax from the Bax/14-3-3\varepsilon complex in the cytoplasm and activation of apoptosis (40). One important consideration may be the cellular localization of different forms of core as this will impact on core's interaction with host-factors. Indeed, it was reported that the effect of core on p53 and p21 activities is dependent on its subcellular location (41, 42). As such, core has been shown to promote as well as inhibit p53-mediated apoptosis (41, 43, 44). The proapoptotic effect of core was also reported to be enhanced by nuclear localization and found to be correlated to protein kinase R (PKR) activation (45).

2.1.4. Effects of alternate reading frame proteins on apoptosis

HCV has an alternate reading frame (ARF) that overlaps the core protein gene and several ARF proteins are expressed (see recent reviews (46, 47)). There are limited studies on these proteins but one study reported that one of these ARF proteins, termed as the F protein, can inhibit TNF-mediated apoptosis by activating the NF-κB pathway (48).

2.2. E1 and E2

HCV encodes two glycoproteins, E1 and E2, which interact to form complexes on the surface of the virion and mediate viral attachment and entry through interaction with cellular receptors (see recent review (49)). Beside this role, E1 and E2 are

also involved in modulating cellular functions when they are expressed intracellularly. For example, the overexpression of E1 induced apoptosis in HepG2 cells and this could be partially blocked by caspase inhibitors (50). The induction of apoptosis was also found to be dependent on the transmembrane domain at the C terminal of E1 and may be due to the alternation of ER membranes by E1.

The effects of E2 on apoptosis regulation are more complicated as both proapoptotic and prosurvival effects have been observed. When E2 was transiently expressed in various cell-lines, including Huh7, apoptosis was observed (51, 52). Expression of E2 caused cytochrome c release and cleavage of Bid, suggesting that a mitochondrial pathway is involved (52). However, the binding of recombinant E2 to the surface of Huh7.5 or Daudi cells was also sufficient to cause a decrease in cell viability (53, 54). This suggests that E2 can also induce apoptosis presumably via an "innocent bystander" mechanism that resulted from the binding of E2 to CD81 on the cell surfaces. In contrast, the binding of E2 to primary thyroid cells did not induce apoptosis but caused secretion of IL8 (54).

Interestingly, Munshi and co-workers showed that E2 can act cooperatively with the envelope protein of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), gp120, to induce apoptosis in HepG2 cells (55). Similar to the studies described above, this involves an "innocent bystander" mechanism that resulted from the cell surface binding of these proteins and is independent of viral replication (55). Further studies revealed that the apoptosis induction is caused by activation of the signal transducer and activator of transcription factor 1 (STAT1) which leads to increased Fas ligand expression and translocation of Bid to the mitochondria (56, 57). As the potential cross-talk between HIV-1 and HCV may affect the treatment of HIV-1 and HCV coinfected patients (see recent review (58)), it is important to examine the clinical significance of these findings in future studies.

However, prosurvival activity was observed in stable cell lines expressing E2 (59). Replicon-containing Huh7 cells that stably express core, E1 and E2 showed resistance to TRAIL-induced apoptosis when compared to the parental Huh7. As this effect was not observed in replicon-containing Huh7 cells that stably express core and E1, it seems that E2 is responsible for the prosurvival effect and this is confirmed by experiments performed using Huh7 cells stably expressing E2 only. Furthermore, the level of several survival genes related to NF-κB activation were found to be up-regulated in the E2-expressing cells (60). One of them is the molecular chaperone glucose-regulated protein (GRP) 94 and RNA interference experiments showed that GRP94 is essential for the resistant to TRAIL-induced apoptosis in both E2-expressing cells or Huh-7 infected with JFH-1 recombinant HCVcc (60). Taken together, the HCV E2 modulates apoptosis via several pathways. The difference in the property of E2 observed in the various studies may be due its ability to modulate extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways differently.

3. CONTRIBUTION OF NON-STRUCTURAL PROTEINS TO APOPTOSIS REGULATION

Besides the structural proteins, HCV also encodes 6 non-structural proteins and a small p7 protein, which has not been formally designated as structural or non-structural. For simplicity, p7 is classified as non-structural in this review. With the exception of NS4B, all of these proteins have been shown to have either proapoptotic or prosurvival or both activities (Figure 1). This is summarized in this section.

3.1. p7

The p7 protein is a small highly hydrophobic protein located at the junction between the structural and nonstructural proteins (5). P7 has ion channel activity and is thus classified in the family of viral ion channel proteins known as viroporins (61, 62). Recently, Madan et al demonstrated that HCV p7 protein induces caspase-dependent apoptosis in baby hamster kidney cells (63). However, the level of apoptosis induced by p7 seems to be much lower than that induced by other viroporins (63).

3.2. NS2

NS2, one of the two viral proteases required for the post-translational cleavage of the nonstructural proteins, is a hydrophobic transmembrane protein anchored to the ER (5). Erdtmann et al demonstrated that NS2 was able to interact with and inhibit apoptosis induced by the liver-specific pro-apoptotic CIDE-B protein. The prosurvival activity of NS2 is believed to be related to its ability to interfere with the cell-death pathway by binding to the CIDE-B cell death domain (64).

3.3. NS3

HCV NS3 is a multifunctional protein believed to be involved in several essential processes in the virus lifecycle, such as protease, nucleotide triphosphatase and RNA helicase activity (5). Apart from these enzymatic activities, NS3 has been reported to have both proapoptotic and prosurvival activities. For instance, in actinomycin D treated cells, NS3 was shown to suppress apoptosis by forming a complex with the tumor suppressor p53, and thus decreasing the amount of p53 through a decrease in transcription and/or translation of p53 or through the degradation of p53 (65, 66).

On the other hand, Siavoshian et al, demonstrated that NS3 was proapoptotic in mature dendritic cells and that the proapoptotic effect was due to its ability to down-regulate the expression of p21^{wat1/cip1} (67). Similarly, when expressed in human and simian cells by transient transfections, NS3 and its precursor NS2/3 have been shown to induce caspase-8-mediated apoptosis (68). Site-directed mutagenesis showed that the proapoptotic activity of NS3 is independent of its protease and helicase activities (68). In phagocytes, the expression of NS3 led to the release of ROS from phagocytes by activating the enzyme, reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase (69). The activated phagocytes subsequently induced apoptosis in both T cells and NK cells (69).

The discrepancies in reports of the apoptotic ability of NS3 may be partly due to the different cell lines used in the studies. For instance, it was observed that the induction of apoptosis is higher in Vero and HepG2 cells than in Huh-7 cells (68).

3.4. NS4A

HCV NS4A is a small protein which acts as a cofactor for NS3in its protease activity (5). NS4A is reported to be proapoptotic because it has a mitochondrial-damaging effect (70). For instance, using Huh-7 cells, it has been shown that NS4A is able to decrease the transmembrane potential of the mitochondrial resulting in the release of cytochrome C and the activation of caspase-3 followed by cell death (70). Just like p7, NS4A has been shown to have ion channel activities and is classified as a viroporin (63). Among the various viroporins tested for proapoptotic activities, NS4A caused the most rapid induction of caspase-3 activiation and triggered the release of cytochrome c efficiently (63).

In two separate studies, NS3 and NS4A were expressed as a complex but opposite effects on apoptosis were observed. The NS3/4A complex was reported to inhibit apoptosis induced by the mitochondrial antiviral signaling adaptor protein (MAVS), also known as IPS-1, VISA or Cardif, by cleaving MAVS at its transmembrane domain, resulting in its dissociation from the mitochondria and thus destroying its proapoptotic functions (71). In contrast, Nomura-Takigawa et al. observed that the NS3/4A complex sensitized cells to actinomycin D-induced mitochondria-mediated apoptosis (70).

3.5. NS5A

The HCV NS5A protein is a phosphoprotein which interacts with several host proteins and signaling pathways (72, 73). With regards to apoptosis, it has been shown to inhibit both extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic stimuli. For example, NS5A has been shown to inhibit TNF- α mediated apoptosis (74-76). The only exception was observed in mature dendritic cells where the overexpression of NS5A induced apoptosis (67).

The prosurvival activities of NS5A appear to result from its ability to interact with various host proteins. For example, NS5A is a potential viral Bcl-2 homologue and is able to bind Bax via its BH2 domain, thus inhibiting apoptosis by sequestering Bax in the nucleus (77). The BH1 domain in NS5A was also shown to interact with the FK506-binding protein 38 (FKBP38) and the prosurvival activity of NS5A was reduced when the expression of endogenous FKBP38 was suppressed by RNA interference (78). On the other hand, a Src homology 3 domain in NS5A was found to be responsible for its interaction with Bin-1 and inhibition of Bin-induced apoptosis (79). Other studies linked the prosurvival activity of NS5A to its ability to bind p53, PKR protein kinase, Grb 2 or p85 phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (80-83). It also has the ability to activate a calpain cysteine protease, leading to the degradation of Bid, and inhibit the oxidative-stress induced p38 MAPK phosphorylation of Kv2.1 (84, 85). Both of these resulted in dampening of the apoptotic signaling.

3 6 NS5R

HCV NS5B is the viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (5). Thus far, it has only been shown to induce apoptosis in mature dendritic cells (67).

4. APOPTOSIS DURING INFECTION BY RECOMBINANT HCVcc

With the production of recombinant HCVcc, it becomes clear that HCV infection of hepatoma cells leads to cell death with numerous hallmarks of apoptosis like exposure of phosphatidylserine on the outer surface of the plasma membrane, activation of caspase 3, nuclear condensation and DNA fragmentation (86-89). The mitochondrial pathway was clearly affected by HCV infection as it triggers Bax activation, leads to disruption of mitochondrial transmembrane potential and release of cytochrome c (89). In addition, there is oxidative stress due to the enhanced level of mitochondrial ROS (89-92). This could be related to the ability of core to increase mitochondrial ROS (see above).

However, it is unclear if ER stress is also involved in HCVcc-induced apoptosis. ER stress markers, like GRP78, was found to be upregulated in one study (88) but another (89). The difference may be due to the use of different strain of virus (JFH-1 or intragenotypic chimeric J6/JFH-1) or multiplicity of infection. However, HCV infection has also been shown to induce ER stress and sensitize infected cells to apoptosis in the SCID/Alb-uPA mice (93). Studies using the subgenomic replicon systems also suggested that HCV replication disrupts normal ER functions and induces ER stress (see review (94)). Thus, it appears that ER stress can contribute to HCV-induced apoptosis but the induction of mitochondrial ROS and HCV-induced apoptosis can also occur independently of ER stress.

Recently, a Bcl-2 homology domain 3 (BH3) in the core protein of the HCV-S1 strain (genotype 1b) was identified and found to be essential for its proapoptotic property (38). Interestingly, the genotype 1b core protein is more effective than the genotype 2a core protein (of the JFH-1 strain) in inducing apoptosis due to a single-amino-acid difference. Consistently, substitution of this residue in the J6/JFH-1 infectious clone (genotype 2a) with the corresponding amino acid in the genotype 1b core protein produced a mutant virus, J6/JFH-1(V119L), which induced significantly higher levels of apoptosis in the infected cells than the parental J6/JFH-1 virus. Interestingly, more progeny virus is released from cells infected with the J6/JFH-1(V119L) virus than by those infected with the parental J6/JFH-1, while there is no difference in the efficiency of infection or amount of HCV replication inside the cells. The enhanced releases of virus from infected cells that are undergoing apoptosis have been reported for other viruses, like the infectious bursal disease virus, adenovirus, and Aleutian mink disease parvovirus (95-97), indicating that apoptosis can be advantageous for viral spreading at the late stages of infection. Mateu and co-workers also

reported that a correlation between the level of infectious particles produced and the level of cell-death in Huh7 transfected with intragenotypic JFH1 based viral RNA (87).

In another study, it was found that HCVcc infection sensitizes Huh7.5 cells and primary human hepatocytes (PHH) to TRAIL-induced apoptosis (98). Furthermore, this enhancement was shown to be mediated by the HCV nonstructural proteins and is caspase-9 dependent. A low level of apoptosis was also observed in the HCV RNA transfected Huh7.5 cells but the level of apoptosis increased dramatically upon TRAIL treatment. This indicates that there is a synergistic activation of both the extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways. In another hepatoma cell-line, LH86, massive apoptosis was also observed upon HCV infection (86). Interestingly, HCV infection of LH86 cells caused a significantly higher level of increase in TRAIL mRNA levels when compared to infected Huh7.5 cells and this seems to be correlated to the higher level of apoptosis observed in LH86 cells (86). Furthermore, it was demonstrated that IRF-3 is responsible for both IFN beta production and TRAIL induction in infected LH86 cells (86).

Most of the current HCVcc studies are based on the genotype 2a JFH-1 genome or intragenotypic JFH-based genomes. On the other hand, most of the ectopic expression studies (described above) were performed using viral proteins from genotype 1a or 1b HCV strains. It is expected that future studies will reveal more about apoptosis regulation during infection especially when infectious clones of other genotypes become available.

5. INVOLVEMENT OF OTHER CELL-DEATH PATHWAYS

Apoptosis is the most well-characterized cell death pathway during viral infection. However, emerging evidence suggests that non-apoptotic cell death pathways are also highly regulated cellular suicide processes and contribute to pathological injury (99-101).

Autophagy is a highly regulated cellular process, by which cytoplasmic materials are enclosed within double (or multiple) membrane vesicles and shuttled to lysosmes for their degradation, and the participation of host autophagic machinery in viral infection is increasingly being recognized (102, 103). Several independent studies have shown that HCV replication induces an autophagic response in hepatocytes (104-108). RNA interference experiments revealed that the autophagy machinery is important for HCV replication (104, 106, 107). However, the autophagy machinery may affect more than one step in the virus life cycle. Dreux and co-workers showed that autophagy proteins are need to initiate HCV RNA translation/replication of the incoming viral RNA in the HCVcc system but they are not essential in maintaining it once these processes are established in the replicon system (107). On the other hand, the study by Tanida and co-workers suggests that autophagy proteins are involved in the production of infectious HCV particles (106).

Another major form of cell-death is necrosis which was initially thought to be an uncontrolled form of cell death, but recent studies have revealed that programmed cell necrosis, also known as necroptosis, is a genetically controlled pathway (99, 100,109). There is a lack of systematic studies on the role of necroptosis in HCV infection. A recent study showed that the core protein can induce caspase-independent cell death (110). However, typical apoptosis-associated morphological features were observed and it is not yet determine if autophagic cell-death or necroptosis is involved. Unlike apoptosis, the contributions of the different HCV proteins to other forms of cell-death have not been extensively studied and it is likely that future studies will reveal more about their roles in HCV replication and pathogenesis.

6. FUTURE STUDIES

Extensive studies have been performed to understand the mechanisms by which HCV proteins regulate apoptosis. In addition, recent studies have characterized the cell death pathways that are activated in HCV infected cells by using the genotype 2a JFH-1 (or intragenotypic chimeric of JFH-1) HCVcc system. Further studies are need to delineate the contributions of the different HCV proteins to the regulation of apoptosis, as well as other cell death pathways, and understand the role of viral apoptosis at different stages of the HCV life-cycle. Advances in the development of a small animal HCV infection model will be necessary to provide additional insights into the contributions of cell death to HCV replication and pathogenesis. Potential genotype differences will also be addressed when infectious clones of different genotypes are successfully generated. Research on the interaction between HCV and cell death pathways will eventually lead to a better understanding of intricate interplay between HCV and its human host and may contribute to the development of antiviral therapeutics and design of efficient strategies for disease control.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We apologize to any investigators whose work we have inadvertently omitted. JJA is a recipient of the Singapore International Graduate Awards (SINGA).

8. REFERENCES

- 1. P. Simmonds: Genetic diversity and evolution of hepatitis C virus--15 years on. J Gen Virol, 85(Pt 11), 3173-88 (2004).
- 2. S. J. Hadziyannis and J. S. Koskinas: Differences in epidemiology, liver disease and treatment response among HCV genotypes. *Hepatol Res*, 29(3), 129-135 (2004).
- 3. N. Hayashi and T. Takehara: Antiviral therapy for chronic hepatitis C: past, present, and future. *J Gastroenterol*, 41(1), 17-27 (2006).
- 4. M. P. Manns, H. Wedemeyer and M. Cornberg: Treating viral hepatitis C: efficacy, side effects, and complications. *Gut*, 55(9), 1350-9 (2006).
- 5. J. Dubuisson: Hepatitis C virus proteins. World J Gastroenterol, 13(17), 2406-15 (2007).
- 6. R. Bartenschlager and S. Sparacio: Hepatitis C virus molecular clones and their replication capacity in vivo and in cell culture. *Virus Res*, 127(2), 195-207 (2007).
- 7. T. Wakita, T. Pietschmann, T. Kato, T. Date, M. Miyamoto, Z. Zhao, K. Murthy, A. Habermann, H. G. Krausslich, M. Mizokami, R. Bartenschlager and T. J. Liang: Production of infectious hepatitis C virus in tissue culture from a cloned viral genome. *Nat Med*, 11(7), 791-6 (2005).
- 8. E. White: Mechanisms of apoptosis regulation by viral oncogenes in infection and tumorigenesis. *Cell Death Differ*, 13(8), 1371-7 (2006).
- 9. L. Galluzzi, C. Brenner, E. Morselli, Z. Touat and G. Kroemer: Viral control of mitochondrial apoptosis. *PLoS Pathog*, 4(5), e1000018 (2008).
- 10. J. E. Mclean, A. Ruck, A. Shirazian, F. Pooyaei-Mehr and Z. F. Zakeri: Viral manipulation of cell death. *Curr Pharm Des*, 14(3), 198-220 (2008).
- 11. I. Schmitz, S. Kirchhoff and P. H. Krammer: Regulation of death receptor-mediated apoptosis pathways. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 32(11-12), 1123-36 (2000).
- 12. N. N. Danial and S. J. Korsmeyer: Cell death: critical control points. Cell, 116(2), 205-19 (2004).
- 13. M. M. Lai and C. F. Ware: Hepatitis C virus core protein: possible roles in viral pathogenesis. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 242, 117-34 (2000).
- 14. J. Mclauchlan: Properties of the hepatitis C virus core protein: a structural protein that modulates cellular processes. *J Viral Hepat*, 7(1), 2-14 (2000).
- 15. R. B. Ray and R. Ray: Hepatitis C virus core protein: intriguing properties and functional relevance. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, 202(2), 149-56 (2001).
- 16. C. S. Hahn, Y. G. Cho, B. S. Kang, I. M. Lester and Y. S. Hahn: The HCV core protein acts as a positive regulator of fas-mediated apoptosis in a human lymphoblastoid T cell line. *Virology*, 276(1), 127-37 (2000).
- 17. A. Ruggieri, T. Harada, Y. Matsuura and T. Miyamura: Sensitization to Fas-mediated apoptosis by hepatitis C virus core protein. *Virology*, 229(1), 68-76 (1997).
- 18. J. P. Moorman, D. Prayther, D. Mcvay, Y. S. Hahn and C. S. Hahn: The C-terminal region of hepatitis C core protein is required for Fas-ligand independent apoptosis in Jurkat cells by facilitating Fas oligomerization. *Virology*, 312(2), 320-9 (2003).
- 19. N. Zhu, A. Khoshnan, R. Schneider, M. Matsumoto, G. Dennert, C. Ware and M. M. Lai: Hepatitis C virus core protein binds to the cytoplasmic domain of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor 1 and enhances TNF-induced apoptosis. *J Virol*, 72(5), 3691-7 (1998).
- 20. N. Zhu, C. F. Ware and M. M. Lai: Hepatitis C virus core protein enhances FADD-mediated apoptosis and suppresses TRADD signaling of tumor necrosis factor receptor. *Virology*, 283(2), 178-87 (2001).

- 21. A. H. Chou, H. F. Tsai, Y. Y. Wu, C. Y. Hu, L. H. Hwang, P. I. Hsu and P. N. Hsu: Hepatitis C virus core protein modulates TRAIL-mediated apoptosis by enhancing Bid cleavage and activation of mitochondria apoptosis signaling pathway. *J Immunol*, 174(4), 2160-6 (2005).
- 22. H. Marusawa, M. Hijikata, T. Chiba and K. Shimotohno: Hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits Fas- and tumor necrosis factor alpha-mediated apoptosis via NF-kappaB activation. *J Virol*, 73(6), 4713-20 (1999).
- 23. R. Sacco, T. Tsutsumi, R. Suzuki, M. Otsuka, H. Aizaki, S. Sakamoto, M. Matsuda, N. Seki, Y. Matsuura, T. Miyamura and T. Suzuki: Antiapoptotic regulation by hepatitis C virus core protein through up-regulation of inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase. *Virology*, 317(1), 24-35 (2003).
- 24. K. Saito, K. Meyer, R. Warner, A. Basu, R. B. Ray and R. Ray: Hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits tumor necrosis factor alpha-mediated apoptosis by a protective effect involving cellular FLICE inhibitory protein. *J Virol*, 80(9), 4372-9 (2006).
- 25. C. D. Williamson and A. M. Colberg-Poley: Access of viral proteins to mitochondria via mitochondria-associated membranes. *Rev Med Virol*, 19(3), 147-64 (2009).
- 26. M. Korenaga, T. Wang, Y. Li, L. A. Showalter, T. Chan, J. Sun and S. A. Weinman: Hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits mitochondrial electron transport and increases reactive oxygen species (ROS) production. *J Biol Chem*, 280(45), 37481-8 (2005).
- 27. Y. Li, D. F. Boehning, T. Qian, V. L. Popov and S. A. Weinman: Hepatitis C virus core protein increases mitochondrial ROS production by stimulation of Ca2+ uniporter activity. *FASEB J*, 21(10), 2474-85 (2007).
- 28. Y. Okuda, M. Okuda and C. C. Bernard: The suppression of T cell apoptosis influences the severity of disease during the chronic phase but not the recovery from the acute phase of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *J Neuroimmunol*, 131(1-2), 115-25 (2002).
- 29. Y. Hara, K. Hino, M. Okuda, T. Furutani, I. Hidaka, Y. Yamaguchi, M. Korenaga, K. Li, S. A. Weinman, S. M. Lemon and K. Okita: Hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits deoxycholic acid-mediated apoptosis despite generating mitochondrial reactive oxygen species. *J Gastroenterol*, 41(3), 257-68 (2006).
- 30. K. Machida, K. T. Cheng, C. K. Lai, K. S. Jeng, V. M. Sung and M. M. Lai: Hepatitis C virus triggers mitochondrial permeability transition with production of reactive oxygen species, leading to DNA damage and STAT3 activation. *J Virol*, 80(14), 7199-207 (2006).
- 31. T. Wang, R. V. Campbell, M. K. Yi, S. M. Lemon and S. A. Weinman: Role of Hepatitis C virus core protein in viral-induced mitochondrial dysfunction. *J Viral Hepat* (2009).
- 32. S. M. Kang, S. J. Kim, J. H. Kim, W. Lee, G. W. Kim, K. H. Lee, K. Y. Choi and J. W. Oh: Interaction of hepatitis C virus core protein with Hsp60 triggers the production of reactive oxygen species and enhances TNF-alpha-mediated apoptosis. *Cancer Lett*, 279(2), 230-7 (2009).
- 33. N. L. Benali-Furet, M. Chami, L. Houel, F. De Giorgi, F. Vernejoul, D. Lagorce, L. Buscail, R. Bartenschlager, F. Ichas, R. Rizzuto and P. Paterlini-Brechot: Hepatitis C virus core triggers apoptosis in liver cells by inducing ER stress and ER calcium depletion. *Oncogene*, 24(31), 4921-33 (2005).
- 34. R. J. Youle and A. Strasser: The BCL-2 protein family: opposing activities that mediate cell death. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 9(1), 47-59 (2008).
- 35. J. E. Chipuk and D. R. Green: How do BCL-2 proteins induce mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization? *Trends Cell Biol*, 18(4), 157-64 (2008).
- 36. A. Cuconati and E. White: Viral homologs of BCL-2: role of apoptosis in the regulation of virus infection. *Genes Dev*, 16(19), 2465-78 (2002).
- 37. B. M. Polster, J. Pevsner and J. M. Hardwick: Viral Bcl-2 homologs and their role in virus replication and associated diseases. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1644(2-3), 211-27 (2004).
- 38. N. K. Mohd-Ismail, L. Deng, S. K. Sukumaran, V. C. Yu, H. Hotta and Y. J. Tan: The hepatitis C virus core protein contains a BH3 domain that regulates apoptosis through specific interaction with human Mcl-1. *J Virol*, 83(19), 9993-10006 (2009).

- 39. M. Otsuka, N. Kato, H. Taniguchi, H. Yoshida, T. Goto, Y. Shiratori and M. Omata: Hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits apoptosis via enhanced Bcl-xL expression. *Virology*, 296(1), 84-93 (2002).
- 40. S. K. Lee, S. O. Park, C. O. Joe and Y. S. Kim: Interaction of HCV core protein with 14-3-3epsilon protein releases Bax to activate apoptosis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 352(3), 756-62 (2007).
- 41. T. Yamanaka, T. Kodama and T. Doi: Subcellular localization of HCV core protein regulates its ability for p53 activation and p21 suppression. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 294(3), 528-34 (2002).
- 42. T. Yamanaka, M. Uchida and T. Doi: Innate form of HCV core protein plays an important role in the localization and the function of HCV core protein. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 294(3), 521-7 (2002).
- 43. Y. Cao, T. Hamada, T. Matsui, T. Date and K. Iwabuchi: Hepatitis C virus core protein interacts with p53-binding protein, 53BP2/Bbp/ASPP2, and inhibits p53-mediated apoptosis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 315(4), 788-95 (2004).
- 44. K. Herzer, S. Weyer, P. H. Krammer, P. R. Galle and T. G. Hofmann: Hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits tumor suppressor protein promyelocytic leukemia function in human hepatoma cells. *Cancer Res*, 65(23), 10830-7 (2005).
- 45. S. Realdon, M. Gerotto, F. Dal Pero, O. Marin, A. Granato, G. Basso, M. Muraca and A. Alberti: Proapoptotic effect of hepatitis C virus CORE protein in transiently transfected cells is enhanced by nuclear localization and is dependent on PKR activation. *J Hepatol*, 40(1), 77-85 (2004).
- 46. A. D. Branch, D. D. Stump, J. A. Gutierrez, F. Eng, J. L. Walewski: The hepatitis C virus alternate reading frame (ARF) and its family of novel products: the alternate reading frame protein/F-protein, the double-frameshift protein, and others. *Semin Liver Dis*, 25(1), 105-17 (2005).
- 47. N. Vassilaki, P.Mavromara: The HCV ARFP/F/core+1 protein: production and functional analysis of an unconventional viral product. IUBMB Life, 61(7), 739-52 (2009).
- 48. S. W. Shao, W. B. Wu, Z. Q. Bian, J. G. Yu, P. Zhao, L. J. Zhao, S. Y. Zhu, Z. T. Qi: Hepatitis C virus F protein inhibits cell apoptosis by activation of intracellular NF-kappaB pathway. *Hepatol Res*, 39(3), 282-9 (2009).
- 49. F. Helle and J. Dubuisson: Hepatitis C virus entry into host cells. Cell Mol Life Sci, 65(1), 100-12 (2008).
- 50. A. R. Ciccaglione, C. Marcantonio, E. Tritarelli, M. Equestre, F. Magurano, A. Costantino, L. Nicoletti and M. Rapicetta: The transmembrane domain of hepatitis C virus E1 glycoprotein induces cell death. *Virus Res*, 104(1), 1-9 (2004).
- 51. L. X. Zhu, J. Liu, Y. H. Xie, Y. Y. Kong, Y. Ye, C. L. Wang, G. D. Li and Y. Wang: Expression of hepatitis C virus envelope protein 2 induces apoptosis in cultured mammalian cells. *World J Gastroenterol*, 10(20), 2972-8 (2004).
- 52. H. L. Chiou, Y. S. Hsieh, M. R. Hsieh and T. Y. Chen: HCV E2 may induce apoptosis of Huh-7 cells via a mitochondrial-related caspase pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 345(1), 453-8 (2006).
- 53. M. Flint, C. Maidens, L. D. Loomis-Price, C. Shotton, J. Dubuisson, P. Monk, A. Higginbottom, S. Levy and J. A. Mckeating: Characterization of hepatitis C virus E2 glycoprotein interaction with a putative cellular receptor, CD81. *J Virol*, 73(8), 6235-44 (1999).
- 54. N. Akeno, J. T. Blackard and Y. Tomer: HCV E2 protein binds directly to thyroid cells and induces IL-8 production: a new mechanism for HCV induced thyroid autoimmunity. *J Autoimmun*, 31(4), 339-44 (2008).
- 55. N. Munshi, A. Balasubramanian, M. Koziel, R. K. Ganju and J. E. Groopman: Hepatitis C and human immunodeficiency virus envelope proteins cooperatively induce hepatocytic apoptosis via an innocent bystander mechanism. *J Infect Dis*, 188(8), 1192-204 (2003).
- 56. A. Balasubramanian, M. Koziel, J. E. Groopman and R. K. Ganju: Molecular mechanism of hepatic injury in coinfection with hepatitis C virus and HIV. *Clin Infect Dis*, 41 Suppl 1, S32-7 (2005).
- 57. A. Balasubramanian, R. K. Ganju and J. E. Groopman: Signal transducer and activator of transcription factor 1 mediates apoptosis induced by hepatitis C virus and HIV envelope proteins in hepatocytes. *J Infect Dis*, 194(5), 670-81 (2006).

- 58. Y. J. Tan, S.G. Lim, W.Hong: Understanding human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and hepatitis C virus coinfection. Curr HIV Res, 4(1), 21-30 (2006).
- 59. S. H. Lee, Y. K. Kim, C. S. Kim, S. K. Seol, J. Kim, S. Cho, Y. L. Song, R. Bartenschlager and S. K. Jang: E2 of hepatitis C virus inhibits apoptosis. *J Immunol*, 175(12), 8226-35 (2005).
- 60. S. H. Lee, R. Song, M. N. Lee, C. S. Kim, H. Lee, Y. Y. Kong, H. Kim and S. K. Jang: A molecular chaperone glucose-regulated protein 94 blocks apoptosis induced by virus infection. *Hepatology*, 47(3), 854-66 (2008).
- 61. D. Pavlovic, D. C. Neville, O. Argaud, B. Blumberg, R. A. Dwek, W. B. Fischer and N. Zitzmann: The hepatitis C virus p7 protein forms an ion channel that is inhibited by long-alkyl-chain iminosugar derivatives. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100(10), 6104-8 (2003).
- 62. S. D. Griffin, L. P. Beales, D. S. Clarke, O. Worsfold, S. D. Evans, J. Jaeger, M. P. Harris and D. J. Rowlands: The p7 protein of hepatitis C virus forms an ion channel that is blocked by the antiviral drug, Amantadine. *FEBS Lett*, 535(1-3), 34-8 (2003).
- 63. V. Madan, A. Castello and L. Carrasco: Viroporins from RNA viruses induce caspase-dependent apoptosis. *Cell Microbiol*, 10(2), 437-51 (2008).
- 64. L. Erdtmann, N. Franck, H. Lerat, J. Le Seyec, D. Gilot, I. Cannie, P. Gripon, U. Hibner and C. Guguen-Guillouzo: The hepatitis C virus NS2 protein is an inhibitor of CIDE-B-induced apoptosis. *J Biol Chem*, 278(20), 18256-64 (2003).
- 65. T. Fujita, S. Ishido, S. Muramatsu, M. Itoh and H. Hotta: Suppression of actinomycin D-induced apoptosis by the NS3 protein of hepatitis C virus. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 229(3), 825-31 (1996).
- 66. M. Tanaka, M. Nagano-Fujii, L. Deng, S. Ishido, K. Sada and H. Hotta: Single-point mutations of hepatitis C virus NS3 that impair p53 interaction and anti-apoptotic activity of NS3. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 340(3), 792-9 (2006).
- 67. S. Siavoshian, J. D. Abraham, C. Thumann, M. P. Kieny and C. Schuster: Hepatitis C virus core, NS3, NS5A, NS5B proteins induce apoptosis in mature dendritic cells. *J Med Virol*, 75(3), 402-11 (2005).
- 68. E. A. Prikhod'ko, G. G. Prikhod'ko, R. M. Siegel, P. Thompson, M. E. Major and J. I. Cohen: The NS3 protein of hepatitis C virus induces caspase-8-mediated apoptosis independent of its protease or helicase activities. *Virology*, 329(1), 53-67 (2004).
- 69. F. Thoren, A. Romero, M. Lindh, C. Dahlgren and K. Hellstrand: A hepatitis C virus-encoded, nonstructural protein (NS3) triggers dysfunction and apoptosis in lymphocytes: role of NADPH oxidase-derived oxygen radicals. *J Leukoc Biol*, 76(6), 1180-6 (2004).
- 70. Y. Nomura-Takigawa, M. Nagano-Fujii, L. Deng, S. Kitazawa, S. Ishido, K. Sada and H. Hotta: Non-structural protein 4A of Hepatitis C virus accumulates on mitochondria and renders the cells prone to undergoing mitochondria-mediated apoptosis. *J Gen Virol*, 87(Pt 7), 1935-45 (2006).
- 71. Y. Lei, C. B. Moore, R. M. Liesman, B. P. O'connor, D. T. Bergstralh, Z. J. Chen, R. J. Pickles and J. P. Ting: MAVS-mediated apoptosis and its inhibition by viral proteins. *PLoS One*, 4(5), e5466 (2009).
- 72. A. Macdonald and M. Harris: Hepatitis C virus NS5A: tales of a promiscuous protein. *J Gen Virol*, 85(Pt 9), 2485-502 (2004).
- 73. Y. Huang, K. Staschke, R. De Francesco and S. L. Tan: Phosphorylation of hepatitis C virus NS5A nonstructural protein: a new paradigm for phosphorylation-dependent viral RNA replication? *Virology*, 364(1), 1-9 (2007).
- 74. K. J. Park, S. H. Choi, S. Y. Lee, S. B. Hwang, M. M. Lai: Nonstructural 5A protein of hepatitis C virus modulates tumor necrosis factor alpha-stimulated nuclear factor kappa B activation. J Biol Chem, 277(15), 13122-8 (2002).
- 75. Y. Miyasaka, N. Enomoto, M. Kurosaki, N. Sakamoto, N. Kanazawa, T. Kohashi, E. Ueda, S. Maekawa, H. Watanabe, N. Izumi, C. Sato and M. Watanabe: Hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A inhibits tumor necrosis factor-alpha-mediated apoptosis in Huh7 cells. *J Infect Dis*, 188(10), 1537-44 (2003).
- 76. M. Majumder, A. K. Ghosh, R. Steele, X. Y. Zhou, N. J. Phillips, R. Ray and R. B. Ray: Hepatitis C virus NS5A protein impairs TNF-mediated hepatic apoptosis, but not by an anti-FAS antibody, in transgenic mice. *Virology*, 294(1), 94-105 (2002).

- 77. Y. L. Chung, M. L. Sheu and S. H. Yen: Hepatitis C virus NS5A as a potential viral Bcl-2 homologue interacts with Bax and inhibits apoptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Int J Cancer*, 107(1), 65-73 (2003).
- 78. J. Wang, W. Tong, X. Zhang, L. Chen, Z. Yi, T. Pan, Y. Hu, L. Xiang and Z. Yuan: Hepatitis C virus non-structural protein NS5A interacts with FKBP38 and inhibits apoptosis in Huh7 hepatoma cells. *FEBS Lett*, 580(18), 4392-400 (2006).
- 79. S. K. Nanda, D. Herion and T. J. Liang: The SH3 binding motif of HCV [corrected] NS5A protein interacts with Bin1 and is important for apoptosis and infectivity. *Gastroenterology*, 130(3), 794-809 (2006).
- 80. M. Gale, Jr., B. Kwieciszewski, M. Dossett, H. Nakao and M. G. Katze: Antiapoptotic and oncogenic potentials of hepatitis C virus are linked to interferon resistance by viral repression of the PKR protein kinase. *J Virol*, 73(8), 6506-16 (1999).
- 81. K. H. Lan, M. L. Sheu, S. J. Hwang, S. H. Yen, S. Y. Chen, J. C. Wu, Y. J. Wang, N. Kato, M. Omata, F. Y. Chang and S. D. Lee: HCV NS5A interacts with p53 and inhibits p53-mediated apoptosis. *Oncogene*, 21(31), 4801-11 (2002).
- 82. Y. He, H. Nakao, S. L. Tan, S. J. Polyak, P. Neddermann, S. Vijaysri, B. L. Jacobs and M. G. Katze: Subversion of cell signaling pathways by hepatitis C virus nonstructural 5A protein via interaction with Grb2 and P85 phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *J Virol*, 76(18), 9207-17 (2002).
- 83. A. Street, A. Macdonald, K. Crowder and M. Harris: The Hepatitis C virus NS5A protein activates a phosphoinositide 3-kinase-dependent survival signaling cascade. *J Biol Chem*, 279(13), 12232-41 (2004).
- 84. Y. Simonin, O. Disson, H. Lerat, E. Antoine, F. Biname, A. R. Rosenberg, S. Desagher, P. Lassus, P. Bioulac-Sage and U. Hibner: Calpain activation by hepatitis C virus proteins inhibits the extrinsic apoptotic signaling pathway. *Hepatology*, 50(5), 1370-9 (2009).
- 85. J. Mankouri, M. L. Dallas, M. E. Hughes, S. D. Griffin, A. Macdonald, C. Peers and M. Harris: Suppression of a proapoptotic K+ channel as a mechanism for hepatitis C virus persistence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(37), 15903-8 (2009).
- 86. H. Zhu, H. Dong, E. Eksioglu, A. Hemming, M. Cao, J. M. Crawford, D. R. Nelson and C. Liu: Hepatitis C virus triggers apoptosis of a newly developed hepatoma cell line through antiviral defense system. *Gastroenterology*, 133(5), 1649-1659 (2007).
- 87. G. Mateu, R. O. Donis, T. Wakita, J. Bukh and A. Grakoui: Intragenotypic JFH1 based recombinant hepatitis C virus produces high levels of infectious particles but causes increased cell death. *Virology*, 376(2), 397-407 (2008).
- 88. Y. Sekine-Osajima, N. Sakamoto, K. Mishima, M. Nakagawa, Y. Itsui, M. Tasaka, Y. Nishimura-Sakurai, C. H. Chen, T. Kanai, K. Tsuchiya, T. Wakita, N. Enomoto and M. Watanabe: Development of plaque assays for hepatitis C virus-JFH1 strain and isolation of mutants with enhanced cytopathogenicity and replication capacity. *Virology*, 371(1), 71-85 (2008).
- 89. L. Deng, T. Adachi, K. Kitayama, Y. Bungyoku, S. Kitazawa, S. Ishido, I. Shoji and H. Hotta: Hepatitis C virus infection induces apoptosis through a Bax-triggered, mitochondrion-mediated, caspase 3-dependent pathway. *J Virol*, 82(21), 10375-10385 (2008).
- 90. H. E. Boudreau, S. U. Emerson, A. Korzeniowska, M. A. Jendrysik, T. L. Leto: Hepatitis C virus (HCV) proteins induce NADPH oxidase 4 expression in a transforming growth factor beta-dependent manner: a new contributor to HCV-induced oxidative stress J Virol, 83(24), 12934-46 (2009).
- 91. W. Lin, W. L. Tsai, R. X. Shao, G. Wu, L. F. Peng, L. L. Barlow, W. J. Chung, L. Zhang, H. Zhao, J. Y. Jang, R. T. Chung: HCV regulates TGF-beta1 production through the generation of reactive oxygen species in an NFkappaB-dependent manner. Gastroenterology, 2010 Mar 12. [Epub ahead of print]
- 92. S. Pal, S. J. Polyak, N. Bano, W. C. Qiu, R. L. Carithers, M. Shuhart, D. R. Gretch, A.Das: Hepatitis C virus induces oxidative stress, DNA damage and modulates the DNA repair enzyme NEIL1 J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2010 Jan 14. [Epub ahead of print]
- 93. M. A. Joyce, K. A. Walters, S. E. Lamb, M. M. Yeh, L. F. Zhu, N. Kneteman, J. S. Doyle, M. G. Katze and D. L. Tyrrell: HCV induces oxidative and ER stress, and sensitizes infected cells to apoptosis in SCID/Alb-uPA mice. *PLoS Pathog*, 5(2), e1000291 (2009).

- 94. K. D. Tardif, G. Waris and A. Siddiqui: Hepatitis C virus, ER stress, and oxidative stress. *Trends Microbiol*, 13(4), 159-163 (2005).
- 95. S. M. Best, J. B. Wolfinbarger and M. E. Bloom: Caspase activation is required for permissive replication of Aleutian mink disease parvovirus in vitro. *Virology*, 292(2), 224-234 (2002).
- 96. J. Mi, Z. Y. Li, S. Ni, D. Steinwaerder and A. Lieber: Induced apoptosis supports spread of adenovirus vectors in tumors. *Hum Gene Ther*, 12(10), 1343-1352 (2001).
- 97. K. Yao and V. N. Vakharia: Induction of apoptosis in vitro by the 17-kDa nonstructural protein of infectious bursal disease virus: possible role in viral pathogenesis. *Virology*, 285(1), 50-58 (2001).
- 98. L. Lan, S. Gorke, S. J. Rau, M. B. Zeisel, E. Hildt, K. Himmelsbach, M. Carvajal-Yepes, R. Huber, T. Wakita, A. Schmitt-Graeff, C. Royer, H. E. Blum, R. Fischer and T. F. Baumert: Hepatitis C virus infection sensitizes human hepatocytes to TRAIL-induced apoptosis in a caspase 9-dependent manner. *J Immunol*, 181(7), 4926-4935 (2008).
- 99. A. Degterev and J. Yuan: Expansion and evolution of cell death programmes. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 9(5), 378-390 (2008).
- 100. L. Duprez, E. Wirawan, T. Vanden Berghe and P. Vandenabeele: Major cell death pathways at a glance. *Microbes Infect*, 11(13), 1050-1062 (2009).
- 101. R. S. Hotchkiss, A. Strasser, J. E. Mcdunn and P. E. Swanson: Cell death. N Engl J Med, 361(16), 1570-1583 (2009).
- 102. S. B. Kudchodkar and B. Levine: Viruses and autophagy. Rev Med Virol, 19(6), 359-378 (2009).
- 103. D. Sir and J. H. Ou: Autophagy in viral replication and pathogenesis. *Mol Cells* (2010).
- 104. D. Sir, W. L. Chen, J. Choi, T. Wakita, T. S. Yen and J. H. Ou: Induction of incomplete autophagic response by hepatitis C virus via the unfolded protein response. *Hepatology*, 48(4), 1054-1061 (2008).
- 105. M. Ait-Goughoulte, T. Kanda, K. Meyer, J. S. Ryerse, R. B. Ray and R. Ray: Hepatitis C virus genotype 1a growth and induction of autophagy. *J Virol*, 82(5), 2241-2249 (2008).
- 106. I. Tanida, M. Fukasawa, T. Ueno, E. Kominami, T. Wakita and K. Hanada: Knockdown of autophagy-related gene decreases the production of infectious hepatitis C virus particles. *Autophagy*, 5(7), 937-945 (2009).
- 107. M. Dreux, P. Gastaminza, S. F. Wieland and F. V. Chisari: The autophagy machinery is required to initiate hepatitis C virus replication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(33), 14046-14051 (2009).
- 108. T. Mizui, S. Yamashina, I. Tanida, Y. Takei, T. Ueno, N. Sakamoto, K. Ikejima, T. Kitamura, N. Enomoto, T. Sakai, E. Kominami and S. Watanabe: Inhibition of hepatitis C virus replication by chloroquine targeting virus-associated autophagy. *J Gastroenterol*, 45(2), 195-203 (2010).
- 109. W. X. Zong and C. B. Thompson: Necrotic death as a cell fate. Genes Dev, 20(1), 1-15 (2006).
- 110. C. P. Berg, S. F. Schlosser, D. K. Neukirchen, C. Papadakis, M. Gregor, S. Wesselborg and G. M. Stein: Hepatitis C virus core protein induces apoptosis-like caspase independent cell death. *Virol J*, 6, 213 (2009).

Key Words

Hepatitis C virus (HCV), infection, replication, programmed cell death, apoptosis, autophagy, structural proteins, non-structural proteins, prosurvival, proapoptotic.

Send correspondence to:

Yee-Joo Tan Department of Microbiology, MD4, 5 Science Drive 2, National University of Singapore, Singapore Singapore 117597

Tel: (65) 65163692, Fax: (65) 67775720, Email: Yee_Joo_TAN@NUHS.edu.sg

Figure legends

Figure 1. Schematic diagram showing the HCV proteins and their involvement in apoptosis regulation. Upward arrows indicate proapoptotic activities while downward arrows indicate prosurvival activities. Alternate reading frame proteins are not indicated. UTR: untranslated region, IRES: internal ribosome entry site.

Running title

Hepatitis C virus and programmed cell death

First Galley